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Monmouthshire is traditionally a Welsh county, although it was often considered to be part of 
England. It is bordered by the Bristol Channel to the south, Glamorgan to the west, Breconshire 
to the north, and the English counties of Herefordshire and Gloucestershire to the east.  The 
northern and eastern parts are mainly agricultural, but there are substantial deposits of coal and 
minerals in the south-west. 
 
In 1834 the county appointed a single inspector of Weights and Measures, and this arrangement 
continued until 1876 when the county police force took over.  In 1890 two qualified inspectors 
were appointed. The ancient boroughs of Monmouth and Newport became municipal boroughs 
in 1835 and exercised authority over weights and measures.  Monmouth trasferred its authority to 
the county in 1881, but Newport became a county borough in 1892 and continued until 1974, 
when the whole area became part of the new county of Gwent. 
 
The heavy engineering equipment required by industry in the Newport area inevitably attracted 
the interest of  large weighing machine firms from around the country. Bartlett of Bristol, Pooley 
of  Liverpool, and Hodgson & Stead of Salford all had premises in Newport by the 1870s. They 
also supplied the small machines used by shopkeepers.  J.D. Jewitt of Newport began to trade as 
a scalemaker around the turn of century, and remained independent until taken over by Avery’s 
in 1938. Bartlett, Pooley, and Hodgson & Stead had all become part of the Avery organisation 
before that.  
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
A: Inspection by the County of MONMOUTHSHIRE 

 

Dates Events Marks Comments 

1826 
 
 
1835 
 
 
  
1849 
 
 
1857 
 
 
 
 
1874 
 
 

One set of standards [58] 
issued. 
 
One inspector for the whole 
county; one set of standards 
[875] issued. 
 
Original standards sold  
[Mon 6/1/49]. 
 
Police force set up, but not 
used for WM inspection. 
 
 
 
One set of standards issued 
[1524]. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monmouthshire is sometimes 
treated as an English county.  
 
The inspector appointed under 
the 1834 Act was John James of 
Usk, who resigned in 1839 when 
his salary was cut from £125 to 
£25 per annum. 
 
William Graham, the crier of 
the court of quarter sessions as 
reported in 1868 [4Rep: 404], 
took office in 1839.  Apart from 
a threatened resignation in 
1865, he continued in post until 
his death in 1875. 
 
Frederick Roberts acted as 
IWM for nine months, until 29 
September, 1876. 

 
 
 
 
 

                  

¶  Two advertisements from the Monmouthshire Merlin, 
 30 January 1836 and 6 August 1836. 



                   
             

 

Dates Events Marks Comments 

1876 
 
 
 
 
 
1877 
 
 
 
 
1882 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Police take over WM 
inspection: four divisions.  
The four divisional 
superintendents were 
initially appointed. 
 
Four more sets of standards 
issued [1610, 1612, 1618-9]; 
one retained for comparison. 
 
 
Reorganisation of WM 
districts, with the formation 
of a new district . 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Police inspectors 1876-1890: 
A: Abergavenny:  
William C. Freeman (-91) 
(asst: Insp. William Kynch) 
B: Pontypool:  
William McIntosh (-81) 
George W. Whitfield (1882-87) 
Victor Bosanquet (1887-8) 
William James (1888-91) 
(asst: Insp. Samuel Sheppard 
(-82) 
Serg. Joseph Basham (1882-85) 
PC Charles Bladon (1885- 
C: Tredegar: 
Humphrey Fowler (-77) 
Capt Richard Foll (1877-80) 
Capt Vincent Parker (1881-91) 
D: Usk/Monmouth 
Willoughby Berthon (-91) 
(asst: J. McEvoy) 
1881: Newport 
Francis P. Gurney (1881-86) 
Henry G. Hasted (1886-88) 
Victor Bosanquet (1888-91) 
(asst: Thomas Povall (1881-85)) 

 

¶   Advertisement taken from the 
Monmouthshire Merlin of 5 May, 1849. 

¶  Detail from a 2oz brass weight, showing 
three impressions of the early County mark. 



 
    

 
 

 

Dates Events Marks Comments 

1890 
 
1891 
 
 
1905 
 
 
1907 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1930 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1939 
 
1950 
 
 
 
1974 

Nos 512 and 513 issued; two 
qualified inspectors 
No. 563 issued, but apparently 
not used. 
 
Realignment of the two 
districts to equalize work of 
the two IWMs. 
In 1907, a third district (C – 
Newport, No.563) was 
established.  This was 
operating from Rogerstone by 
1920. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
No. 510 issued, used by the 
inspector of petrol pumps only. 
 
 
 
 
 
First chief inspector appointed. 
 
Nos. 510, 512,513, 563 all in 
use. 
 
 
Authority transferred to Gwent 
County Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Qualified inspectors: 
A district: Pontypool, No.513 
T.H. Lewis (q1890, died in               
office 1931) [MR 31:40] 
G.C. Jenkins (1925-39 then                 
chief)   
R.J. Bullen (adj. 1934-39, 1939-
60 then chief)          
B district: Ebbw Vale, No.512 
T.E. Serjent (q1890, moved to 
C district in 1907) 
J. Bull (1907-11) 
G.G. Probert (q. 1890, adj. 
1891-1911, 1911-26) [MR 
26:16] 
T.R. Davies (adj. 1914-23, 
1923-moved to C district 1938) 
A.W. Prosser (adj 1931-38, 
1938-47 then chief) 
C district: Newport, No. 563 
T.E. Serjent (moved from B            
district 1907-23) [MR 23:43] 
J.R. Gamble (q1906, adj. 1910-
23, i/c district 1923-1937) [MR 
56:231] 
T.R. Davies (1938-47-)  
R.G. Chaloner (1937-72)  
     [MR 74: 164] 
Chief inspectors: 
G.C. Jenkins (1939-47) 
    [MR 75:26] 
A.W. Prosser (1947-60 died in       
office)  [MR 60:159] 
R.J. Bullen (1960-70) 
    [MR 60:267; 70:279] 

¶  A ½ oz brass weight, showing the original County mark, the mark for the 
A district of the County (Pontypool), and one for the City of Bristol.  



 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

¶  A ½ lb brass weight, with the marks for the Abergavenny 
district of the County and the later uniform verification mark 512. 



 
B: Localities with separate jurisdiction in the county of MONMOUTHSHIRE 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Locality Status Marks Dates 
& 

Notes Non-
uniform 

Number 
pre-1951 

 
 
Monmouth 
 
 

AncBo 
MB:1835 
cp 

                
? 

 
 

--- 

s:1826 [199] 
 

In 1835 the inspector appointed was William Jones, sergeant-at-mace, assisted by two others.  
Previously the town beadles had been appointed as examiners.  In 1839 it was claimed that 
there were only two IWMs in Monmouthshire, the County Inspector and the one for the 
borough of Newport [Mon 5/1/39], but William Jones was re-appointed in 1842 [Mon 
17/12/42].  When William Gilbert, one of the mace-bearers, died in 1849, William Clark was 
appointed to the vacant office of IWM [Mon 3/2/49].  The standards, valued variously at £10 
and £20, were stolen in 1857 [Mon 31/10/57].  In 1861, the borough decided that the 
superintendent of police would henceforth act as IWM [Mon 26/10/61], that post being held by 
Edmund Wheeldon.  The standards were readjusted and Wheeldon began work in 1862 [Mon 
15/3/62]; although he tendered his resignation in 1872, he was appeased by an increase in salary 
from £5 to £7 per annum for his WM work [MCA 17/2/72] and continued in post until the police 
force was amalgamated with the county in 1881.  Supt Berthon of the county police was then 
appointed as the IWM for the borough [WM 22/11/81]. 

 
 
 
                                     
 
 
 

¶  Advertisements from the Monmouthshire Merlin, f 
27 December 1834 and 17 December 1842. 



Locality Status Marks Dates 
& 

Notes Non-
uniform 

Number 
pre-1951 

 
 
Newport 
 
 

AncBo 
MB:1835 
cp 
CB:1891  

 
 

236 
   

 

s:1835 [654], 1867 
[1396], 1890 [2140] 
 
n:1879-1974 

The mark has also been seen with the letter O replaced by an N. 
Standards were acquired in 1835 and an inspector, Thomas Hawkins, was appointed. In 1836 
the borough bought the standards from him, for the use of a new inspector,  Evan Willliams, a 
watchmaker [Mon: 27/8/36].  The first of many letters of complaint about the state of the 
Newport inspection came in 1841, resulting in police officers inspecting the WM of the 
shopkeepers [Mon 11/9/41; 18/12/41].  This suggests that the police took over at this stage, 
under the superintendent of the borough police, Edward Hopkins (CC: 1837-1848), named as 
IWM and billet-master 1848/9 [H].  He was succeeded by Stephen English (CC 1848-52), who 
rapidly relinquished the post of IWM in 1850 [Mon 6/7/50], despite Hopkins being named in 
1852 [Sc].  William Stockwell, a bell-hanger and whitesmith, who had acted as adjuster for 
English, was appointed in his stead [Mon 8/6/50] and is named in 1852 [L].  In 1854, Stockwell 
and John Huxtable, the superintendent of the borough police, launched a campaign against 
unjust WM [Mon 24/2/54]. William Stockwell continued in post until 1863 [Mon 7/11/63], 
although, in 1858/9 [Sl], the role was allegedly held by the billet-master, Thomas Stockwell.   
Against a background of growing unrest with the state of inspection within the borough, John 
Huxtable (CC 1852-1875) was appointed to the post in 1863 [Mon 7/11/63], the Town Council 
exercising its new rights to appoint to this office, rather than relying on the magistrates. When 
he assumed office in 1864, his first act was to send the standards for reverification [Mon 
16/1/64]; in 1867, he reported a new set of standards weights had been obtained, the old ones 
also having been verified [Mon 19/10/67]. Huxtable intended to resign as IWM in 1872 [Mon 
2/2/72] but agreed to continue until his retirement in 1875 [Mon 13/8/75]. Although he initially 
refused the post, Inspector Williams did assume it but soon complained of his workload; DS 
Thomas H. Jones was appointed in his stead [WM 27/6/77]. W. Niblett continued to act as the 
adjuster for a year [Mon 16/8/78], when Jones assumed responsibility for the adjusting, paying 
for the necessary labour from the fees levied; in 1881, a blacksmith, James Andrews was 
engaged in this role [WM 18/11/81].  In October, 1885, the borough decided to appoint a civilian 
inspector so that Jones could focus on his police work. 
John C. Boyns was appointed in November, 1885.  He qualified in 1890/1 and died in 1922 
[MR 22:15].   D.W. Ball was the chief inspector 1922-61 [MR 61:160], followed by G.T. Clarke 
1961-69 [MR 61:159; 69:51] and W.B.E. Thomas 1969- [KN]. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



                  
 
 
 
 
 

            
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

¶  Detail from a 4oz brass 
weight, showing the uniform 
verification mark 236 for the 
borough of Newport. 

¶ Details from two 
brass weights, showing 
the two variants of the 
N†B mark for the 
borough of Newport. 
 

 
 



C:The trade in MONMOUTHSHIRE 
 

NEWPORT 

 
 Bartlett 

J.S. Stone advertised in 1855 as the Newport agent for weighing machines 
made by Bartlett of Bristol [Mon: 8/9/55]. The previous year he had 
advertised that he kept these in stock. 
•  Great Dock St. <1854-55> 
Bartlett’s seem to have maintained a presence in Newport, but the details 
are unclear.  In 1916 [J] they were listed in Skinner Street, although by that 
time they had been taken over, first by Pooley, and then by Avery in 1914. 

 
Pooley  

Henry Pooley & Son advertised in 1857 [Mon: 13/1/57] . 
•  Canal Parade, Corn St <1857> 
•  20, Commercial St <1857-62> 
•  10, Commercial St <1891-95> 
•  13, Skinner St <1901-16> 
•  45, Dock St <1920-3> 
•  Union St <1926-46>. 
Bought, with its subsidiaries, by Avery in 1914. 

 
Hodgson  
& Stead 
 

In 1875 the Salford/Manchester firm of Hodgson and Stead advertised that 
they had set up  a depot in Dock Street, Newport [Kelly, Somerset 1875]. In 
the Inspectors Handbooks for 1908-10 the firm’s address was given as 13 
Dock Street.  This address was also used by George L. Scott from 1906 to 
1916 [K].  The company was taken over by Pooley and then by Avery, and 
the premises were later occupied by Ashworth. 

 
Jewitt  

John David Jewitt was listed as a shopkeeper in 1901 [K], and J.D. Jewitt & 
Son as weighing machine manufacturers in 1906 [K]. The company was 
acquired by Avery in 1938. 
•  5, East St <1901-10> 
•  55, Emlyn St <1914-38. 
 Clarence Jewitt Jones was listed as a scale and weight maker in 1926  [K]. 
•  47, St Edward St <1926-34> 

 
Ashworth 

Ashworth Son & Co., a large firm based in Dewsbury, first advertised in 
1920 [K]. Part of the firm was acquired by Avery in 1923, and later became 
Ashworth Ross and Co Ltd.  
•  13, Dock St <1920-55->   
•  7/7A, West Park Road <1957-74>. 
Another branch of the firm, E. and A. Ashworth, apparently remained 
independent. They are mentioned in 1937 [J,K], expanding in the late 1940s.  
•  32, Dock St <1937-46> 
•  32 & 33, Dock St <1950-67 
•  18, George St 1968-74>. 

 
Avery 
 

First noted under this name in 1923. 
•  13, Skinner St <1923> 
•  45, Dock St <1926-46> 
•  44, Dock St <1950-67> 
• 188, Corporation Road <1968-74>. 



 
 

 
   ¶  Pooley’s advertisement in the     
    Monmouthshire Merlin 31 January  
    1857, page 1. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
¶  Advertisement that appeared in 
Johns’ Newport Directory, 1894, 
p.324a. At this date, the company 
was at 10a, Commercial St, 
Newport. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

¶   Billhead from E.&A. Ashworth, 1950.  Note that Newport was one of their main bases, and 
they claimed to have ‘no connection with any other firm or combine’. 

¶  Advertisement from the 1926 edition of Kelly’s Directory for 
Monmouthshire and South Wales, p.1719 



 
 

PONTYPOOL 
 

Avery 
 
 

W&T. Avery had premises in Osborne Street in 1965. 
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